DONCASTER METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL

TUESDAY, 5TH DECEMBER, 2017

A MEETING of the CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PANEL was held at the COUNCIL CHAMBER - CIVIC OFFICE, DONCASTER on TUESDAY, 5TH DECEMBER 2017 at 10.00 AM

PRESENT:

Chair - Councillor Neil Gethin

Councillors John Mounsey, Nick Allen and Mick Cooper

Co-optees – Bernadette Nesbit (Diocese of Hallam Roman Catholic Church) and John Hoare

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:

Councillors:

Councillor Kevin Rodgers

Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council (DMBC):

Damian Allen – Interim Director of People Leanne Hornsby - Assistant Director, Commissioning and Business Development Paul Thorpe - Quality and Service Improvement Manager

Doncaster Children's Services Trust (DCST):

James Thomas - Head of Performance and Business Intelligence Dawn Jones - Customer Experience Manager Rosie Faulkner - Board Manager (Safeguarding and Standards) Angela Harrington - Commissioning Manager

Other:

Detective Inspector Richard Partridge – South Yorkshire Police

		<u>ACTION</u>
66.	APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE	
	Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Sean Gibbons,	
	Jane Cox, Sue McGuinness and Nikki McDonald.	

67.	TO CONSIDER THE EXTENT, IF ANY, TO WHICH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS ARE TO BE EXCLUDED FROM THE MEETING.	
	None	
68.	DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY.	
	There were no declarations of interest made.	
69.	MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 12TH SEPTEMBER, 2017	
	RESOLVED: That the minutes be agreed as a true record.	
70.	PUBLIC STATEMENTS	
	There were no public statements made.	
71.	DONCASTER SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN BOARD ANNUAL REPORT	
	The Panel received a report outlining the progress and work of the Doncaster Safeguarding Children Board (DSCB). This report included the arrangements the Board's Annual Report and the Independent Chair's updated assessment of the response to child sexual exploitation (CSE) for Doncaster. Members were reminded that the Independent Chair's first assessment was published back in December 2014 and covered ten key CSE assurance questions. Following a brief summary of the report, there was a discussion around the following areas.	
	<u>Attendance</u> – Concern was raised about the zero percentage attendance at Board Meetings of one of the partners. Members were informed that closer working would be undertaken with the Doncaster Safeguarding Adults Board providing more opportunity for joint working.	
	Progress and Impact against Strategic Priorities 2014 – 2017 – It was outlined that in February 2016, the Board had approved a new Business Plan for 2016/17, which brought together actions in response to the Boards strategic priorities and recommendations from Ofsted's review of the Board (carried out in October 2015). Concern was raised that a numbers of strategic priorities were showing an overall impact rating as being "under development". It was explained that each of the priorities were graded in this way as they were still being worked on and showed the level of impact that had been made. It was acknowledged that there needed to be more of an explanation around the terms used and that the plan and priorities were at an early stage.	
	Voluntary and Community Sector, including Faith Group – It was	

explained that there were more organisations listed than numbered as some were umbrella organisations that had been individually identified.

<u>Child Protection</u> – Clarification was sought on the use of percentage figures in the tables shown on Page 58 of the agenda under "category of need". In relation to the "sexual" category of abuse, it was explained that this was sexual abuse in addition to sexual exploitation.

Members were informed that to reduce figures, included within plans and priorities 2017-2018 for safeguarding children was "to continue to deliver services to children, young people and families who are at risk through running away or going missing". It was commented that the number of incidents reported tended to increase when there was more focus placed on the issue. Members heard how there was robust case management in place and a shift in strategy that sited more emphasis upstream.

<u>Missing Children</u> - Clarification was provided that when a child went missing from school during the day, it was the schools responsibility to notify the parents. It was commented that the challenge was about what point was it a missing episode and concern was raised that missing education may result in that child missing from home.

Assistant
Director,
Commissioning
& Business
Development

It was commented that the advocacy service was about what was going on at home or at school. It was added that there had been a reduction in Looked After Children in receipt of early help and that more was being done to engage with those children. It was hoped that next year, there would be a clearer idea of what was being undertaken within schools. It was advised that it would be helpful to circulate information about children missing from education.

<u>Mental Health</u> – It was questioned whether Mental Health should come under a separate heading and be a standalone priority. Members were informed that this and the Transformation Plan were considered as being equally importantly. Members were assured that there was a focus on Mental Health issues that had involved looking into individual cases and digging down to see what had taken place and how partners could work more effectively together.

Members were informed that the Council has a link with each school to ensure early intervention was available in this area. It was added that steps were being taken to remove the stigma around mental health issues by raising awareness and for those affected to be able to work with the person who has the best relationship with them. It was also explained that assurances had been provided by colleagues from NHS Clinical Commissioning Group who supported such plans.

<u>Child Sexual Exploitation</u> – It was explained that there were increased areas of responsibility around CSE and an awareness of many more issues. As a result, good progress had been made

particularly around awareness raising and more referrals were going into the system, with a better understanding of children and young people. It was also highlighted that the young people's group, industry sector and retailers all continued to improve in this area.

Members were informed that the Board had identified work following an increasing trend of neglect witnessed in a number of cases. It was explained that the development of the Neglect Strategy and implementation was underway and multi-agency training had been undertaken. It had been recognised that there more needed to be done within this area.

It was reported that there was a more positive and effective culture of challenge made through the Accountability Board. It was added that in place was a suite of performance reports that enabled monitoring to be undertaken. Members were also informed that a strength-based approach had been embedded through Child Protection Case Conferences (which also used the rolled out Signs of Safety model).

An improvement in services for Looked After Children was reported with more children being brought back into Doncaster and provided with safer support to live within a family surrounding.

<u>Child Poverty</u> – Members were informed that the proportion of children and young people living in poverty in Doncaster was higher than that found nationally. Members were made aware of the CIPFA report 'Changing Children's Lives' that looked at the change in children's services and outlined some key issues including policy, outcomes and leadership development.

<u>Areas for development</u> – A further outline was provided of the key areas which the Board will be focussing on to continue progress. These included:

- Establishing a formal mechanism to ensure that the voice of children and young people was directly heard and linked to work undertaken alongside the Council.
- An evaluation of the Communication Strategy including use of the website.
- The need to look at local multi-agency arrangements for safeguarding in line with the Children and Social Work Act and statutory guidance.
- Assurance being sought on the review of the effectiveness of MASH.
- Continuation to scrutinise the quality of early help and vulnerable young people.
- Further assurance to scrutinise and challenge the partnership's strategy for managing demand in children's services.
- Assurances continuing to be sought regarding the quality of early help assessments and the embedding of the lead professional role

across all agencies.

The Chair, Councillor Neil Gethin and Damian Allen, Director of People both passed thank the departed Chair, John Harris for his work with the Doncaster Safeguarding Children's Board.

RESOLVED that the Panel note the;

- Doncaster Safeguarding Children's Board Annual Report 2016/17; and;
- The Independent Chair of Doncaster Safeguarding Children Board's (DSCB) updated assessment of the response to child sexual exploitation (CSE) in Doncaster.

72. SUMMARY OF THE HIGH LEVEL QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE CHALLENGE MEETING OF DONCASTER CHILDREN'S SERVICES TRUST: QUARTER 2 2017/18

A report was provided that summarised the business of the high level Quarterly Performance challenge meeting (Quarterly Performance Monitoring) of the Doncaster Children's Services Trust in Quarter 2 of 2017/18. Reference was made to the recent Ofsted meeting that had been recently undertaken, it was explained that the outcome was embargoed until 19th January 2018.

Panel Members were also reminded of the invite to them to visit the Doncaster Children's Services Trust at the Hub (Mary Woollett Centre) during October 2017, when as part of the Panel's Corporate Parenting role.

Concern was raised about the Trust's projected overspend, if there was value for money and whether the Trust was financially sustainable. Members were informed that there had been a reduction in overspend since Quarter 1, which had taken into account £1.1 million provided at the beginning of the year to fund increased activity from Doncaster Council.

Members were reminded that this issue had already been considered by OSMC on two occasions and would remain on the workplan. Members were informed that the Trust was looking at ways of generating income. Regarding the contract, it was clarified that it was a 10-year contract with a break after 5 years, (due in 2 years) and that notice would need to be provided to the Department of Further Education to consider the next best model for Trust.

It was explained that one of the contributing factors to the overspend was an increased demand (particularly from the high numbers of Looked after Children) for which the contract has allowed for. In respect of Out of Authority Placement, it was explained that the Trust had a desire to place children within the borough or a 20 miles radius.

It was added that the Trust would never be in a position to bring all placements within the borough as some children had complex needs. It was acknowledged that the quality and standards of children in care and at risk of abuse, was viewed as an improving situation.

Impact of Austerity – Concern was raised about the effects of austerity on children in the Borough. It was acknowledged that Children's Services across the board were all under pressure, with overspends on children social care due to increased demand and complexity. It was recognised that the priority of children was foremost although savings needed to be made.

<u>Projections</u> – It was acknowledged that it was a tough challenge to anticipate demand and understand what was happening locally in the long term. It was noted that it was a challenging situation for colleagues and that there was a need to participate in a wider policy conversation.

RESOLVED That the Panel note the content of the report.

73. ASSOCIATION OF DIRECTORS OF CHILDREN'S SERVICES (ADCS) - ANNUAL SELF-AWARENESS AND CHALLENGE PROCESS 2017

This report provided a description of the Association of Directors of Children's Services (ADCS) self-assessment challenge exercise for children's services and a summary of the process carried out by the Council and the Trust to support this activity. It was explained that it was an annual process in which the Trust and the Council jointly compiled a submission to an event at which 14 other local authority Children's Services shared their self-assessment and participated in a challenge.

It was explained that the Council and Trust were both consistent participants in the challenge process. The exercise comprised of the compilation of a template which identified the Children's Services Authority's improvement journey including up to six jointly agreed core Strengths and Areas for improvement (between the Trust and the Council), with a supporting explanatory narrative. It was outlined that each submitted challenge templates were distributed and considered by other authorities in the region at the challenge event in December each year. Following this, a Local Authority may be requested to reconsider its listings of strengths and areas for development and/or its priority ordering.

It was explained that at subsequent Directors meeting, issues would be identified from the challenge day, which were common to a number of authorities. This was then fed into the Directors summary and taken forward as a programme of work.

The region's Directors of Children's Services consider the compiled results and to what extent, it was a shared reflection of regional performance. It was further explained that this agreed listing of 'wicked issues' would inform improvement activity over the following 12 months. This would feed into a programme of peer reviews and a programme of task and finish groups.

It was outlined that the 2016, three 'wicked issues' which were currently being worked on by regional task and finish groups included:

- Placement sufficiency
- Educational attainment at key stages 1 and 2
- Outcomes for vulnerable groups.

Members were advised that on the 29th November 2017, Ofsted produced guidance for new single inspection framework, inspecting local authority children's services. Members were informed that there was a dialogue being undertaken between children's services and Ofsted. It was commented that there was more flexibility in how this takes place with less emphasis, more frequent inspections, reinspection and a number of monitoring visits peer evaluations. It was believed that these were valuable and supported the inspection as more of a process and less of a one off event.

RESOLVED That the Panel:

- i. Note the content of the report.
- ii. Review the outcomes of the discussions, which have taken place to establish priorities and the next steps in the challenge process.
- iii. Request an update of the results of the challenge activity and how this will be applied to the Council and the Trust's programme of self-improvement.

Quality and service Improvement Manager

74. <u>EDUCATION AND SKILLS COMMISSION AND SOCIAL MOBILITY</u> OPPORTUNITY AREA (SMOA)

A report was presented that updated the Panel on the progress of the Education and Skills Commission and Social Mobility Opportunity Area (SMOA). The report set out the progress made to date in terms of implementing the recommendations of the One Doncaster report, and also how it aligned with the structure and intent of SMOA in the borough.

Members were reminded how, in January 2017, Mayor Ros Jones announced the formal response to the independent One Doncaster Report. It followed that in the same month, Doncaster was awarded SMOA status by the Department for Education. The Board then established in shadow form and met formally back in August.

The report highlighted that the Board had been established and was

functioning well, with;

- A high level 'delivery plan' that has been developed It was explained that the delivery plan was different to the action plan and would involve more dialogue as to who will be providing what.
- A programme that still required further refinement at a programme level around benefits mapping, blueprints and stakeholder mapping; and at a project level to further define scope of projects and develop PIDs and project briefs
- Some roles still to be assigned including Programme Manager for Social Mobility and the Project Managers for the whole programme.

Reference was made to recent national events where members of the board had stood down over lack of progress. It was commented that although the policy was secure, it was still awaiting commitment. It was added that £100,000 had been received in advance to establish governance arrangements. It was noted that once the delivery plan was agreed then it needed to be delivered in accordance with established governance arrangements. It was explained that the SMOA brings with it £6m of funding and a further £2.5 M for life skills such as collaboration, coping with difficulty and IT skills. Areas that were not always recognised in attainment tables and were more about the wider contributions that schools could make.

Members stressed that they felt that it was key to ensure that young people developed the right skills to ensure that they were job ready. Members were assured that with the funding targeting youngsters at that age, investment should role out from junior school level onwards. It was explained that there was a focus on primary outcomes, then on secondary outcomes, third was careers then fourth was school experiences.

<u>Teacher Recruitment and Retention</u> - It was felt that achieving teacher recruitment and retention was key to Doncaster's success. Concern was raised that this was a big issue as Doncaster did not have a university and therefore did not attract young people. It was seen that there was a link to the place marketing agenda and for more could be done to make Doncaster more attractive.

Although it was recognised that there was a wealth of teaching schools around Yorkshire and the Humber, comments were made that more schools should be involved in teaching teachers. It was responded that there had been a shift in paying off student loans in order to attract teachers. It was also acknowledged that there were variations in pay supplied by larger trusts.

In response to children who were not receiving a suitable education, it

was explained that children were identified through merging different data sets. It was outlined that the Delivery plan was shared with ESPB in the September and October Board meetings. As a consequence of those discussions that took place within the meetings, work was underway to: Improve alignment to the Social Mobility Opportunity Area Programme and other programmes across the wider Doncaster Growing Together Learning policy area. Avoid duplication. Provide clarity regarding governance arrangements. Provide assurance for the ongoing programme management. It was acknowledged that the programme was being resourced out of existing resources and therefore a need to ensure the funding was targeted appropriately. The Panel stated that they would like to see the delivery plan at the next meeting. Senior RESOLVED that the Panel notes the report and endorses the direction Governance of travel. Officer OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S PANEL WORK PLAN 2017/2018 The Panel received a report updating Members on the Panels work plan for 2017/18. A copy of the work plan was attached at Appendix A of the report taking account of issues considered at the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny workplanning meeting held on the 1st June 2017. Updates were provided on the following: Visit to the Trust to look at the "Front door" of Children's Service based at the Hub at Mary Woollett. - Councillors were invited to see the initial referral team and spoke with Managers and frontline staff about the day-to-day workings and how things were managed. Consideration was given to; Early Help: Transferred family support workers; and Front door pressure. It was commented that schools and academies needed to work as a partnership and liaise better with Education and Attendance Officers. It was recognised that they were achieving their best with limited

Early Help – That this had been repeatedly evaluated over the last 2

Assistant Director

75.

resources.

years and that Members might find it helpful to be provided with an update.

Partnerships & Operational Delivery

<u>Appointments</u> – That a new Head of Service had been appointed to develop education welfare and attendance strategy together under the one banner.

<u>School Transport</u> - It was added that discussions have been taking place regarding school transport and that this has been added to the workplan as an issue for future consideration.

<u>Workplan</u> - It was commented that there is an extraordinary meeting to be arranged to consider the draft Annual Impact Report and Child Poverty.

RESOLVED that the Panel note the Children and Young People Overview and Scrutiny Panel report.